1983

Rainer F. Huck v. Patricia Ann Huck : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a divorce action between Plaintiff and Defendant in which the parties originally asked for a judicial determination regarding property rights, alimony, child support, and child custody. The sole issues on appeal, however, concern the property distribution, award of temporary alimony, and attorneys' fees.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The original Complaint was filed by Plaintiff against Defendant in April of 1979. The court file will reflect numerous events which occurred from that time until the filing of this appeal. These events included a dispute as to which party should live in the residence, an effort by Defendant to disqualify Plaintiff's attorney, several hearings concerning

child support and custody, two pre-trial efforts to segregate property before trial, and finally, a two-day trial before the Honorable James S. Sawaya involving some ten witnesses and numerous exhibits.

The lower court rendered a Memorandum Decision in April of 1981. (R. 397-398). The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in accordance with the decision were entered in June of 1982. In April of 1983 Plaintiff's Motion to Alter or Amend the Findings was denied.

Plaintiff now appeals from the judgment entered against him and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in support thereof.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff-Appellant seeks reversal of the lower court's judgment in the following particulars: vacation of any award for temporary alimony, vacation of any award for temporary attorneys' fees, and modification of the property distribution.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The present appeal before this Court is truly unique. After reviewing numerous divorce actions decided by this Court it is not an exaggeration to say that the present case involves elements, both factual and legal, which have never been previously litigated. The attorneys for both parties, together with the lower court judges, all have acknowledged the difficulty in solving and dealing with the unique facts in this case and the unusual legal issues involved.

For this reason, Appellant will attempt to eliminate those facts which are not related to issues relevant to this appeal. For example, while the question of child custody, visitation, and child support were hotly contested in the lower court, Appellant believes that the lower court did not abuse its discretion in making these awards. Therefore, even though Appellant feels strongly about the child related issues, the evidence relating to these issues will not be discussed herein.

The heart of this appeal concerns the validity of a pre-nuptial agreement, the circumstances surrounding the marriage and the acquisition of certain real estate by Plaintiff, and the ability of Defendant to support herself after the separation of the parties and during the pendency of the divorce. Thus, a history of the marriage of the parties, their relationship during the marriage, and the financial ability of each party after separation are all relevant to this appeal.

Appellant recognizes that this Court has the power under the Utah Constitution to completely review all of the evidence de novo in spite of the lower court's findings. However, Appellant is also aware that this Court will defer to the lower court's decision unless there is clear abuse or misapplication of the law. Stone v. Stone, 431 P.2d 802 (Utah 1967). For this reason, and for the convenience of the court, Plaintiff shall state these facts most favorably to the defendant-wife. When there is a factual dispute in which the court's decision is subject to dispute, Appellant shall state such contrary evidence in brackets. It is hoped that by using this method this Court will

be able to quickly review all of the evidence that was available to the lower court in making its decision and will be able to determine quickly whether the lower court ignored substantial evidence in support of the arguments raised by Plaintiff.

EVENTS PRIOR TO MARRIAGE RELATING TO PLAINTIFF

Plaintiff Rainer Huck (hereinafter Rainer) entered the University of Utah in 1964 and obtained a B.S. degree in 1968. (Tr. 441). In 1968 he entered a graduate program in electrical engineering. By 1971 he had completed most of his classwork and was working on a dissertation entitled "Critical Re-examination of the Special Theory of Relativity." (Tr. 443).

This thesis was submitted by the engineering department to the physics department for its comments. The physics department rejected the theory proffered by Mr. Huck and rejected the paper. (Tr. 445).

Nevertheless, Mr. Huck believed that the theory known as the "Reciprocal System Theory" had great scientific promise and felt that it was worthy of a lifetime career goal. He knew, however, based upon his experience with the physics department that it would be very difficult for him to obtain any funding to do this type of work through conventional sources. He therefore decided to endeavor to establish an independent fund for himself so that he could continue his research independently. (Tr. 445-446).

In 1974 Mr. Huck obtained his Ph.D. degree from the University of Utah in electrical engineering by submitting a

completely unrelated dissertation to the one previously rejected by the physics department.

In 1971 he purchased his own home at 1195 South Windsor Street. He purchased the home with his own funds and from money lent to him by his father. (Tr. 443).

In 1972, as part of his plan to develop rental properties, he purchased another property at Lindon Avenue. This property was jointly owned between Mr. Huck and his close personal friend, Craig S. Cook, who was his trial counsel and is now his appellate counsel. (Tr. 448). Prior to his marriage he purchased the following additional houses for rental property: 923 South 4th East (jointly with Mr. Cook); 837 Menlow Avenue (jointly with Mr. Cook); 1161 Bueno Avenue (jointly with Mr. Cook); 227-229 Iowa Street (jointly with Mr. Cook); 334 Stanton Avenue, 633 Grand Street; 1127 Milton Avenue.

During this period of time Mr. Huck was continually reading and researching concerning the scientific theory he wished to advance but was also putting in a great deal of time with the rental properties. He was instrumental in founding the "New Science Advocates" which was an organization dedicated to the study and evaluation of the Reciprocal System. He became treasurer of that organization. (Tr. 473).

PRE-MARITAL RELATION OF THE PARTIES

In 1972 he met his future wife Patricia Huck (hereinafter Pat) at a party given by Stan Secor. Throughout 1973 and 1974 he began dating her more frequently perhaps two or three times

a week. At that time Pat was working in the Ph.D. program in biology and had been there since 1970. (Tr. 448-449).

As they continued to date there were substantial problems and personality differences causing a lot of arguments. (Tr. 450). During the latter part of 1974 the parties had a discussion in which Pat said she was leaving Salt Lake when she completed her Ph.D. degree which would be in about six months. They agreed that they would continue dating until that time. (Tr. 453, 662). For the two years they had been dating the parties had had a sexual relationship and Pat had used contraception to prevent pregnancy. Shortly after the conversation in the middle of December, however, she became pregnant. (Tr. 663).

In 1975 Rainer was 28 and had never been married. Pat was 33 and was a widow from a prior marriage. (Tr. 348). In January of 1975 Pat informed Rainer that she was pregnant. At that point in time marriage was discussed in great detail but Rainer felt the problems were still inevitable and that a marriage would not be advisable. (Tr. 454). As stated by Pat, Rainer did not want to marry her. (Tr. 663).

Pat went to Rainer's parents and told them about the situation. She asked them to try to convince Rainer to marry her. (Tr. 455). She stated she thought that his mother would like to have grandchildren and would encourage the marriage. (Tr. 664).

A great deal of discussion occurred during the early months of 1975 as to the alternatives which were available. Rainer suggested that Pat obtain an abortion since he did not believe that a child should be brought into a situation where the parties

were doomed to be unhappy. (Tr. 454, 613). Pat did not want an abortion and was happy to be pregnant. She told Rainer that she wanted to have a child and intended on having a child. (Tr. 613).

[Rainer testified that Pat repeatedly told him that if he did not marry her she was going to commit suicide. She began leaving her valuable possessions on his doorstep on a daily basis saying that she would not need them any more. (Tr. 455). Pat denied ever threatening suicide or ever leaving possessions on his doorstep. (Tr. 663)].

THE SIGNING OF THE PRE-MARITAL AGREEMENT

Sometime in February or early March of 1975 Rainer agreed to marry her. He told her, however, that under these circumstances he thought they should have a prenuptial agreement. (Tr. 457). [Mr. Huck contended that he informed her of this pre-nuptial agreement almost a month before the marriage. (Tr. 457).] Mrs. Huck contended that she was not given the document until three or four days prior to the marriage. (Tr. 614).

The pre-nuptial agreement was prepared by Mr. Huck's attorney, Craig Cook. He asked her to take it to her attorney, Wally Sandack, so that he could examine it, counsel her, and execute his signature. Mr. Sandack advised her not to sign the document nor to marry Mr. Huck. He refused to sign the document himself. (Tr. 458; 615).

She returned the document to Rainer at which time he had it modified so as not to require any signature of either counsel. (Tr. 459).

Each party listed the assets which they were bringing into the marriage. A list of all the properties previously acquired by Rainer was attached to the prenuptial agreement including an additional notation of "cash and personal property" worth \$15,000. It is stated in paragraph 2 that Pat brought into the marriage property worth approximately \$1,000. [Mr. Huck testified that Pat supplied this \$1,000 figure. (Tr. 461).] Pat testified that this figure was inserted by her husband and Mr. Cook and that since she believed she did not have adequate counsel they could go ahead and put in anything they wanted to. (Tr. 665).

The prenuptial agreement was signed on April 9, 1975 before a notary public. This was one day prior to the marriage which interestingly enough was performed by Judge Sawaya who also presided over the divorce trial.

EVENTS DURING THE MARRIAGE

Sophie Huck was born on September 21, 1975. (Tr. 467).

While this issue was contested below, for purposes of this appeal it will be assumed that Pat Huck performed the necessary duties as a housewife and mother. It should also be noted that from the time of the marriage up until July of 1978 Pat was actively pursuing her attempt to obtain a Ph.D. degree. As part of this program she was appointed a teaching assistant and taught every other quarter. She received a tax-free stipend of \$375 a month during this period. (Tr. 615-616). Except for an additional \$40 a month she received from a California invest-

ment, her sole independent income was limited to the governmental stipend. (Tr. 625; R. 113).

Rainer obtained the majority of his income from the rental houses which he had purchased prior to the marriage. (Tr. 475). He spent substantial time fixing up and dealing with the rentals. (Tr. 636).

Rainer testified that within the first week or two of the marriage the two parties had a conversation regarding property and finance. Pat said she wanted to keep her money separate and that he should likewise keep his separate. She wanted to divide the costs of living as equally as possible. (Tr. 464). He testified that he did not feel this was a good way to run a marriage but that if she wanted to do it that way there was no other alternative. (Tr. 465). Pat admitted that she felt hostile during the early part of the marriage because of a number of things including the prenuptial agreement. (Tr. 666).

The evidence shows that Pat maintained her maiden name at the University of Utah. Under this unusual marriage arrangement each party maintained their own separate checking and savings accounts. All rental money he received went strictly into his account. All money that she received from the University went into her account. (Tr. 471).

Under the agreement Rainer was to provide the house and pay the taxes and utilities with the exception of the electric bill which Pat agreed to pay. She agreed to pay the majority of the food, to maintain medical insurance on the family, and to provide the costs of her own automobile. (Tr. 472, 619).

In addition, she paid for the hospital and doctor costs involved with the birth of her daughter and for any babysitting fees. (Tr. 616-617). [Rainer testified that it was Pat's position that she did not want him to have anything to do with either the child or the expenses with respect to the child as was expressed in paragraph 4 of the prenuptial agreement. (Tr. 544)]

The question of Pat's involvement in the marriage with the rental properties will be discussed in the legal argument concerning estoppel. Appellant believes that there was overwhelming evidence that she expressed repeatedly her desire to have no interest in any acquired properties and, in fact, refused to assist him in any way in this venture. More importantly, however Appellant shall state facts which show that he relied upon her representations during the course of the marriage on the mistaken belief that by assisting her and the child during her education she would make no claim against any betterment he may have made in the acquisition of new properties.

During the first year of the marriage, 1975, additional properties were acquired by Rainer. A property located at 629 Harmony Court was purchased on June 9, 1975. \$3,000 was put down to acquire that house and the money was withdrawn from Rainer's savings account of premarital funds. (Tr. 507; Ex. 5).

In August of 1975 a duplex was purchased at 942-46 Harvard Avenue. The down payment for this property also came from Plaintiff's premarital funds which were withdrawn from a savings account. (Ex. 5, Ex. 6).

In 1976 an additional house was jointly purchased with Craig Cook utilizing premarital funds as Plaintiff's share of the down payment. This house was located at 860 Parkway Avenue. (R. 94, Ex. 5, Ex. 6). In addition, Plaintiff purchased two other houses in 1976 with money obtained from the rental income of the other properties. These houses were located at 215 Iowa Street and 848 Green Street (which was again purchased with Mr. Cook). (R. 93-94; Tr. 520).

In 1977 three additional properties were purchased. In September of 1977 a house at 653 Egli Court was purchased jointly with Mr. Cook. The money used by Rainer as his portion of the down payment was also withdrawn from his savings account which contained premarital funds. (Ex. 5, Ex. 6, Ex. 32).

During that same month a property located at 224 Iowa Street was purchased jointly with defendant Pat Huck. His share of the down payment was obtained on a loan from his father, Herman Huck. (Tr. 521; Ex. 5). Her share was obtained from an investment she sold in California. (Tr. 672-673). As will be discussed infra, while all of the other properties were solely in the name of Rainer Huck, the 224 Iowa Street property was in the names of both Rainer Huck and Patricia Huck, as tenants in common. (Ex. 5).

The final house that was acquired during the marriage was located at 639 Grand Street and was purchased in December of 1977. The money for this house was financed entirely by Plaintiff's father who received a mortgage and a note. (Tr. 509-510).

Once these houses were obtained they were all self-sustaining

in that they provided sufficient income to pay any encumbrances and expenses. (Tr. 509, 519).

In 1975 Mr. Huck added a garage to the back of the Windsor Street property with money lent to him by his father. (Tr. 466). In the summer of 1976 Mr. Huck and his father began building an addition to the Windsor Street property. The actual labor for the addition was performed by Mr. Huck, his father, and a few contractors. Approximately \$12,000 was spent on the addition excluding the labor of Mr. Huck and his father. This money was withdrawn from Mr. Huck's separate account where the majority was funded by premarital rental properties. (Tr. 599-601, Ex. 13). Pat believed that all of the money for this addition came from Rainer's father. She did not contribute her separate funds for the project. (Tr. 680).

In 1977 Rainer testified that he experienced a frequent wave of telephone calls in which when he answered the caller would hang up. The relationship in 1977 was not good. The parties were not getting along very well and were living fairly separate existences. (Tr. 480). In the early part of 1978 because of these persistent telephone calls Mr. Huck fabricated a machine which would record all incoming and outgoing telephone calls in the Huck household automatically. The device was kept in Mr. Huck's electronic lab on the main floor of the house. (Tr. 483-485).

During cross-examination of Pat several of these conversations with Stan Secor were read into the record. (Tr. 640-660). One particular conversation which occurred in April of

1978 will be discussed infra as to Plaintiff's claim of estoppel.

In July of 1978 Pat took her qualifying Ph.D. exams and failed them. She was subsequently terminated from the Ph.D. program. (Tr. 490). In July of 1978 she began working full time at the University of Utah Blood Bank. (Tr. 494-495). Her gross monthly salary at the University of Utah at that time was \$1,080. (R. 113).

Prior to Pat's failure of the examination and her employment with the University of Utah Hospital she retained attorney A. Wally Sandack to represent her in a divorce proceeding. On April 21, 1978 a letter was sent to Rainer advising him that his wife was planning on commencing a divorce proceeding and requesting that he be permitted to discuss financial matters, disposition of property and other items with Mr. Huck's attorney. (Plaintiff's Ex. 3). Rainer and Mr. Cook went to Mr. Sandack's office for the meeting and were informed that he wanted to know exactly what assets Mr. Huck had including his present income. (Tr. 489).

Pat Huck testified that the only reason she went to Sandack in 1978 was to see if he could persuade Rainer to seek counseling. According to Pat, Sandack's idea was that since it was obvious her husband was so concerned with financial matters that by making it appear that the divorce was going to cost him more than keeping her around that maybe he would reconsider counseling. (Tr. 686-687). [Rainer testified that Pat stated to him that she was going to sue for divorce but that later after the letter was sent she stated she acted too hastily and wanted to wait for

the divorce until her exams had been taken. He agreed to wait until the summer of 1978 in order to allow her to study.] In the summer of 1978 Pat seemed very distraught by the outcome of the exams and therefore Rainer did not wish to add to her problems by talking about a divorce. (Tr. 488-490).

In October of 1978 Pat was diagnosed as having cancer in one breast which required surgery. Her cancer was found to be non-evasive and she recovered quite rapidly. (Tr. 491).

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER FILING OF DIVORCE

On April 23, 1979 Rainer initiated this divorce action. (R. 2-4). At the same time Rainer requested that he be awarded possession of the house during the pendency of the divorce. (R. 5-6).

A hearing was held on May 3, 1979 before the Honorable Homer Wilkinson. Defendant's attorney requested that Rainer be ordered to leave the house and allow Pat to remain there. (Tr. 841). Judge Homer Wilkinson awarded possession of the Windsor Street house to Rainer. He also awarded \$250 per month for the use of the defendant during the pendency of the action. (Tr. 853-857; R. 27-28).

Subsequently on October 15, 1979, a hearing was held before the Honorable Christine Durham. While the hearing centered around visitation of the minor child, the court also allocated the \$250 which had previously been ordered by Judge Wilkinson with \$175 as child support and \$75 for temporary alimony. The court noted that whether this alimony amount would be credited

to Mr. Huck would depend upon whether the prenuptial agreement was held valid and binding and whether it would have a retro-active effect to the pending action. (Tr. 829-830). Judge Durham refused to award attorneys' fees to either party since both of the parties were employed and earning income. (Tr. 832; R. 133-134).

Subsequently, a motion was filed by Defendant to disqualify Plaintiff's attorney Craig S. Cook from representing him in the lower court. Depositions of Mr. Cook and Rainer were taken by Defendant's counsel. The question was submitted to the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup. Concurrently, Defendant requested that she be allowed to change her residence to California on the basis that her family resided there and that she had substantial career opportunity available in Los Angeles. (R. 179-180).

On June 24, 1980 Judge Rigtrup granted Defendant's motion to change residence and denied Defendant's motion to disqualify counsel. In addition, he entered an extensive pretrial order as to the issues remaining to be decided at trial. (R. 261-265). The court ordered that all property acquired prior to the marriage would be awarded to Rainer and would not be subject to division as a marital asset of the marriage with the exception of the 1195 Windsor Street residence which would be at issue because of the improvements. The court ordered that the parties provide each other with information regarding those properties which were acquired after the marriage.

Subsequently, on June 24, 1980 Judge Rigtrup awarded Plaintiff \$250 attorneys' fees for his efforts in opposing the

efforts of Defendant to disqualify his attorney. (Tr. 326).

The trial was commenced on September 5, 1980 before Judge James S. Sawaya. A full day of testimony was taken. The trial was reconvened on December 19, 1980 before Judge Sawaya. During the trial Pat submitted an exhibit showing her gross monthly income from salary and wages to be \$1,505. This was based upon a thirty hour work week. (Ex. 16; Tr. 625). In comparison, Rainer testified that his gross income during this same period of time was \$14,300. (Tr. 791; Ex. 30).

Subsequent to the trial memoranda were filed by both parties in support of their respective positions. (R. 364-396; 399-409). On April 22, 1981 the lower court issued a Memorandum Decision awarding Pat Huck 224 Iowa Street (the property held jointly with Rainer Huck); 629 Harmony Court; and 215 Iowa Street. She was also awarded \$3,000 as attorneys' fees. (R. 397-398).

On June 17, 1982 the lower court executed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in accordance with the Memorandum Opinion but which also contained additional awards. (R. 410-417). While the court denied Defendant's claim for alimony, the court found "defendant was in need of temporary alimony and support and continues to need said temporary alimony and support until the real properties and any incomes derived therefrom have been delivered and transferred to her as of the date of this Court's Memorandum Decision in April of 1981." (R. 413).

The court further found that Defendant was coerced into executing the prenuptial agreement dated April 9, 1975 "in that she was already pregnant and had made arrangements for her

marriage prior to being requested to executed said document." The court noted that Plaintiff had not been prejudiced by the finding of the court concerning the invalidity of the prenuptial agreement.

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