1984

Rainer F. Huck v. Patricia Ann Huck : Respondent's Brief

NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal from a Decree of Divorce entered by the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The lower court awarded defendant a Decree of Divorce, together with certain properties acquired during the marriage, custody of the minor child, temporary alimony, child support and attorneys' fees.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant-Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the District Court's determination as contained in the Decree of Divorce entered herein.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent is willing to accept certain of the statements of fact propounded by appellant, but not the conclusions drawn therefrom. Many additional statements of

fact are contained in the appellant's arguments which cannot be accepted by respondent. Respondent does not believe that the facts in this case are so uniquely different as to justify the application of a different set of standards governing the review of domestic cases. While every factual situation is unique to some extent, for purposes of reviewing the lower court's determination, there appears to be little difference between this marriage failure and the majority of domestic cases reviewed by this Honorable Court.

The parties were married for legitimate social and emotional reasons. Their relationship withered to a point of separation and divorce. During the course of that marriage, the parties bore a child, acquired marital properties and investments, incurred obligations, and lived and progressed as any couple may be expected to develop.

The respondent not only contributed as a mother to the parties' child and a wife to the appellant (R.632), but also contributed her earning capacity while at the same time furthering her education and career potentials. The appellant, although highly educated as a Ph.D in Physics, continued his educational interests more as a hobby than an economic pursuit, and admittedly invested substantial amounts of time managing, developing and maintaining real estate rental investments. That was his avocation and occupation. During the course of the marriage, by reason of the appellant's employment efforts and the respondent's financial contribution to offset normal family expenditures, the assets of the parties substantially

increased. Defendant's Exhibit 9 demonstrated 19 categories of family expenses maintained and paid by Patricia Huck during the course of this marriage. In addition, the defendant paid all child care and medical expenses. These contributions allowed the plaintiff to save and reinvest income in rental properties, thus increasing overall equity. Patricia's contributions to the marriage were not by "agreement", as that term is implied by the plaintiff, unless plaintiff means the agreements repeated upon the marriage vows, one to another.

During the pendency of the proceedings below, defendant moved with her child to her home state of California to secure employment and be close to her family. (R.624.) She obtained temporary employment as an all-night laboratory technician at a local hospital working three ten-hour shifts. Her net income was not sufficient to meet her monthly needs of \$1,700.00 per month without the temporary support awarded by the court. (R.626-628.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT ERROR BY INVALIDATING OR DISREGARDING THE PRENUPTIAL AGREEMENT.

As restated in appellant's brief, the court found (a) the prenuptial agreement was coercive and therefore invalid, and (b) even if not invalid, the prenuptial agreement had been met in all of its operational terms and conditions. The finding and conclusion of the court and its effect should be left to the sound discretion of the trial court whose discretion should not be reversed unless there is a clear

demonstration of arbitrary and capricious conduct on the part of the court. English v. English, 565 P.2d 409 (Utah 1977); Naylor v. Naylor, 563 P.2d 184 (Utah 1977).

The prenuptial agreement itself provides that if the parties should divorce during the first two years of marriage, then certain limitations to claims will be effective (paragraph 4 of plaintiff's Exhibit 1). The agreement is silent if the marriage lasts longer than two years, which this marriage did.

The agreement further provides that Patricia Huck is to provide all child support payments unless she can't afford it or is not "capable of self-support at such time". The court specifically found that during the pendency of these proceedings, defendant was in fact not capable of such self-support. This finding is supported by a finding concerning her earnings, his earnings, as well as the availability of cash and capital resources.

The appellant argued that Patricia Huck would not have been entitled to temporary alimony if the prenuptial agreement were valid. Even this contention is not consistent with the terms of the prenuptial agreement:

6. In the event of divorce or separation, Pat specifically waives alimony or separate maintenance support provided that she is capable of self-support at such time. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 1.)

Nowhere in his argument does the plaintiff recognize defendant's expenditures, the financial burden of rearing a child, and the higher expenses made necessary by her move to California. The plaintiff simply restates in his brief that

the defendant's gross earnings should qualify her as a self-supporting person. The move to California, her home state, was made necessary to secure a stable and long-term employment opportunity. Her employment hours are consistent with full-time night laboratory work and her expenses, as testified, were within reasonable limits given the locality of her employment, schooling and the like. Accordingly, the court found she was not capable of self-support and was in need of alimony and child support.

Every aspect of the prenuptial agreement was complied with by the Court:

(1) All property brought into the marriage by each party remained the property of that party. Ranier Huck recognized in the Pretrial Order that Patricia Huck brought in a great deal more to the marriage than the mere \$1,000.00 recited in the agreement (see Pretrial Order, R.261). Ranier Huck received all property listed in Exhibit "A" to the prenuptial agreement;

(2) In the event of divorce, if the parties could not agree on a division of property, the agreement provided that a court of law should divide the same, just as it did in this matter;

(3) Patricia Huck received custody of her child, even though Ranier Huck did not originally want to be bound by his agreement not to claim any custody under the prenuptial agreement. Under Utah law, such an agreement would not bind the court.

Consistent with the agreement, the court attempted to divide marital properties in an equitable manner in order to achieve a happy and useful result to all parties concerned. The court exercised its discretion without abuse and in a manner completely consistent with the prenuptial agreement. Thus, the court found that the plaintiff was not prejudiced in any manner by the court's finding that the defendant was coerced into executing the prenuptial agreement. The issue of coercion, although addressed by the court, is moot.

II. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION
IN AWARDING DEFENDANT ATTORNEYS' FEES.

Plaintiff argues that because of a substantial marital property award to the defendant, and because defendant's net income would thus increase once she became possessed of that real property, the defendant could well afford to pay her own attorneys' fees, and thus plaintiff should not have been ordered to contribute the net amount of \$2,750.00 toward payment of attorneys' fees. Plaintiff's argument is further exaggerated by recapping a long history of the defendant's "defense" of certain legal maneuvers designed to boot her out of house and home, and by an ultimately unsuccessful attempt to disqualify plaintiff's attorney from continuing to represent the plaintiff.

The court made substantial findings demonstrating the amount of monies available to each party: the fact that plaintiff had available in his possession in excess of \$19,000.00 from the sale of marital property; the fact that

plaintiff had substantial liquid savings accounts under his name and in his sole possession and control; the fact that plaintiff had all income-producing properties in his name and under his control (the properties awarded defendant have still not been turned over to her as of the date of this brief); and the fact that defendant maintained herself and the minor child solely on her net income and temporary support.

The defendant, Patricia Huck, still believes that had her attempts to disqualify the plaintiff's attorney been successful, this matter would not have been litigated to the extent that it was. Indeed, the plaintiff's interests, held jointly with his attorney, were significant enough to warrant protection while at the same time cloud the judgment of both client and attorney. Although unsuccessful, Patricia Huck believes that her attempts were necessary for her own protection.

Defendant's attorney testified to the number of hours, the fee per hour, his experience in domestic trial relations, and the reasonableness of the fee. The only issue raised at trial by plaintiff concerns the number of hours and on what tasks these hours were expended. The court obviously weighed the facts in arriving at an award of attorneys' fees of approximately one-third of what had been requested. The award is clearly within the court's discretion and supported by the findings and facts in evidence and should be accordingly sustained.

III. THE LOWER COURT COMMITTED NO ERROR IN
AWARDING DEFENDANT CERTAIN PROPERTIES
AND AN EQUITABLE DIVISION OF MARITAL
PROPERTY.

In accordance with the prenuptial agreement, the parties ultimately stipulated that each would be awarded the various properties belonging to them at the inception of this marriage. That rule was consistent with the prenuptial agreement and general domestic relations law. Preston v. Preston, 646 P.2d 705 (Utah 1982); Jespersion v. Jespersen, 610 P.2d 326 (Utah 1980). However, that rule is not, under Utah law, inviolable. Workman v. Workman, 652 P.2d 931 (Utah 1982). Indeed, any increase in the value of separate property which occurs during the marriage is considered to be acquired through the joint effort of the parties under Utah law. In such cases, the spouse will be entitled to the value of assets contributed at the time of the marriage and the profits due to the increase will be divided as a marital asset. Preston v. Preston, supra; Jespersion v. Jespersen, supra. Thus, the defendant was awarded three real properties, having a combined total equity of approximately \$76,000.00, which total equity included any credits for premarital properties belonging to her in the stipulated amount of \$8,000.00. Compare plaintiff's award, in excess of \$120,000.00 of properties, not including the premarital contributions and not including premarital properties held, stipulated to be plaintiff's separate property. It is clear that the plaintiff received by far the larger amount of property available for distribution. He has

not demonstrated, nor can he, any abuse of discretion by the lower court in its treatment and distribution of marital property. Fletcher v. Fletcher, 615 P.2d 931 (Utah 1982).

The plaintiff further contends, however, that even if the distribution of these properties was within the fair and equitable discretion of the court, the defendant should be estopped from claiming any value in the marriage whatsoever by reason of her conduct and by reason of the various statements made to the plaintiff throughout the marriage. Defendant responds, as she did at the trial, by denying these estoppel statements, which the court found in her favor, and by emphasizing the admitted irresponsibility and selfishness of the plaintiff. At page 39 of appellant's brief, appellant recites as a fact "it was agreed prior to the marriage that should the marriage end in divorce, she would make no claim as to the pre-existing properties in any way. (Tr. 462.)" This quotation leaves the Court with an impression consistent with the plaintiff's assertion that the marriage was solely a marriage of convenience and that defendant would have been willing to pay for this convenience if necessary. Reading one page further into the transcript, however, produces a more rational clarification when the trial court asked Mr. Huck his position regarding improvements made to the marital residence after the marriage:

THE COURT: Supposing they proved to my satisfaction that that is the case, was it your [Mr. Huck] intention that you would take the full benefit of those improvements?

ANSWER [by Mr. Huck]: I don't think that would be reasonable, no. I would want to be fair.

THE COURT: I don't either. Thank you.

The plaintiff's actions in eavesdropping on defendant's telephone conversations is further evidence of plaintiff's notions of fairness. The conversation quoted at pages 44 and 45 of appellant's brief is taken out of context (bragging to a friend), and represents three separate conversations taken at different times and discussing different subjects. While the plaintiff did not deny the conversations themselves, the intent, import and meaning of these conversations were denied as not being consistent with those advanced by the plaintiff.

These conversations are the only evidence which support plaintiff's selfish arguments that only he contributed to the growth of marital property and that Mrs. Huck specifically waived any claim to such property. This contention is not even consistent with the prenuptial agreement which provides:

3. It is agreed by both parties that upon divorce or legal separation, a mutual agreement as to the disbursement of property acquired after the marriage shall be made by the parties themselves or, in the event that they cannot agree, that they shall allow a court of law to divide such property under the court's discretion.

That is what the court did.

The court answered plaintiff's arguments of waiver and estoppel by awarding property to the defendant, as it did. The court thus implicitly found that there was neither an

explicit or implicit waiver of a known right, either voluntarily by the defendant or by the defendant's actions and deeds. The entire estoppel argument is simply an excuse to justify plaintiff's financial greed.

CONCLUSION

Patricia Ann Huck respectfully requests this Court affirm the lower court's determinations in all respects and deny any relief requested by the plaintiff-appellant. The lower court's determinations are, in all respects, supported by the evidence in the record and are not an abuse of the court's discretion or a misapplication of law.